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Name of Entity

DIGITAL WINE VENTURES LIMITED
(FORMERLY DAWINE LIMITED)

ABN or equivalent Financial year ended Financial year ended
company reference (‘Current period’) (‘Previous period’)
59 086 435 136 30 June 2019 30 June 2018

RESULTS FOR ANNOUNCEMENT TO THE MARKET

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18 Change $ Change %
Revenues from ordinary activities $237,288 $231,333 $5,955 3%
Loss from ordinary activities after tax attributable (81,655,517) | ($2.108315) $452.798 22%
to members
Loss from the period attributable to members (81,655,517) | (82,108,315) $452,798 22%
Operating Results

Refer to the commentary contained in the accompanying 30 June 2019 annual report.

DIVIDEND AND OTHER RETURNS TO SHAREHOLDERS

There were no dividends paid or proposed during or as at the end of the financial year. There were no share buy backs
or proposed share buy backs during the year.

NET TANGIBLE ASSETS
30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
Net tangible assets per security $0.0006 $0.0017
AUDIT

The accompanying 30 June 2019 annual report for Digital Wine Ventures Limited has been audited with no disputes or
qualifications.

COMPANY OVERVIEW AND REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
Refer to the commentary contained in the accompanying 30 June 2019 annual report.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS

In the opinion of the directors, there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group that occurred during
the year under review not otherwise disclosed in this report or in the financial report.
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Your Directors present their report for Digital Wine Ventures Limited (formerly Dawine Limited) (referred to hereafter
as ‘Digital Wine’ or the 'Company') and its controlled entities (‘Consolidated Entity’ or ‘Group’) for the year ended 30
June 2019.

1. BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The names of the Directors of the Company in office during the year and up to the date of this report are as follows:

DIRECTORS POSITION APPOINTMENT / (RESIGNATION)
Mr Piers Lewis Non-Executive Chairman | Appointed 23 February 2017
Mr Dean Taylor Executive Director / Appointed 1 February 2019

Chief Executive Officer
Mr Michael Edwards Non-Executive Director | Appointed 23 February 2017
Mr Sam Atkins Non-Executive Director | Appointed 23 February 2017
Mr Anthony Ramage Non-Executive Director | Appointed 20 April 2018 / Resigned 28 November 2018

Directors were in office from incorporation until the date of this report unless otherwise stated.

2. INFORMATION ON BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr Piers Lewis
Non-Executive Chairman
B Comm, GIA, CA

Mr Lewis has more than 20 years global corporate experience and is Company Secretary for several ASX listed
companies. In 2001 Mr Lewis qualified as a Chartered Accountant with Deloitte (Perth), and has diverse financial and
corporate experience from previous senior management roles with Credit Suisse (London), Mizuho International and
NAB Capital.

During the past three years, Mr Lewis held the following directorships in other ASX listed companies:
- Non-Executive Director of Cycliq Group Limited (current),

- Non-Executive Director of Manalto Limited (current), and
- Non-Executive Director of eSense-Lab Limited (current).

Mr Dean Taylor
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer (appointed 1 February 2019)
B’ARCH HONS

Originally an architect, Dean established Wine Ark in 2000 a climate-controlled storage business which now manages
over $100m of wine across over a dozen sites around the country. Wine Ark was acquired by National Storage (ASX:
NSR) in 2007.

In 2003 he launched Wine Exchange an online wine trading platform and The Cellar Club an ultra premium wine club,
which were acquired by Cellarmasters in 2009 and latter sold onto Woolworths in 2011 as part of a $340m transaction.

In 2010 he founded Crackawines.com.au a direct-to-consumer marketplace that became one of Australia’s top 50 online
retailers. Catering for niche market segments, he also launched Winegrowers Direct and My Wine Guy, before merging
those businesses with The Wine Society to form The Wine Collective. Mr Taylor is a digital pioneer and start-up veteran
with seven successful wine ventures under his belt.

During the past three years, Mr Taylor has not held directorships in any other ASX listed companies.
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Michael Edwards
Non-Executive Director
B.Bus (Econs and Finance), B.Sci (Geol), Grad Dip Oen

Mr Edwards is a Geologist and Economist with over 20 years of experience in Senior Management in both the private
and public sector. He has a Bachelor of business (Economics and Finance) from Curtin University of Technology and a
Bachelor of Science (Geology) from the University of Western Australia. Mr Edwards spent three years with Barclays
Australia in their corporate finance department and then eight years as an exploration and mine geologist with companies
such as Gold Mines of Australia, Eagle Mining and International Mineral Resources. Mr Edwards also has a Graduate
Diploma in Oenology from the University of Adelaide, South Australia.

During the past three years, Mr Edwards held the following directorships in other ASX listed companies:
- Non-Executive Director of De.mem Limited (current),
- Non-Executive Director of Norwood Systems Ltd (current), and
- Non-Executive Director of Serpentine Technologies Limited (current).

Sam Atkins
Non-Executive Director
B.Comm., GAICD (Dip)

Mr Atkins holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of Adelaide and is a member of the Australian
Institute of Company Directors (MAICD). Mr Atkins brings extensive wine industry experience to the position. Prior to
joining the Dawine Limited, Mr Atkins was Managing Director of Next Generation Wines (NXG) Pty Ltd, which was
acquired by Brand New Vintage Limited in August 2002. Whilst with Brand New Vintage Limited, Mr Atkins has held
the roles of General Manager of Trading, General Manager of Xanadu Adelaide Hills and Managing Director of Brand
New Vintage. Mr Atkins also held senior sales, marketing and business development roles within the international
division of BRL Hardy Ltd. Mr Atkins maintains a shareholding in the boutique private wine company, Fox Gordon Pty
Ltd and Atkins Family Vineyards Pty Ltd.

During the past three years, Mr Atkins has not held directorships in any other ASX listed companies.

Mr Anthony Ramage
Non-Executive Director (resigned 28 November 2018)
B. Bus (Accounting and Finance)

Tony is the founder of 123 Home Loans Perth. Tony has extensive experience in the Financial Services Industry,
commencing with his employment as an Accountant at Hall Chadwick Chartered Accountants in 1989, a Commercial
Banker with Challenge Bank from 1992, a Stockbroker with Paterson Securities from 1996 before establishing 123
Home Loans in 2002. Over the past 16 years he has consolidated his knowledge and experience to specialise in mortgage
broking.

During the past three years, Mr Ramage has not held directorships in any other ASX listed companies.

3. DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS (DIRECT AND INDIRECT HOLDINGS)

The following table sets out each current Director’s relevant interest in shares and options to acquire shares of the
Company or a related body corporate as at the date of this report.

Fully Paid Unlisted Performance rights
Directors Ordinary Shares Share Options
Mr Piers Lewis 37,900,000 12,000,000 -
Mr Dean Taylor 85,369,434 - 100,000,000
Mr Michael Edwards - 12,000,000 -
Mr Sam Atkins 476,814 12,000,000 -
Total 123,746,248 36,000,000 100,000,000




DIGITAL WINE VENTURES LIMITED

(FORMERLY DAWINE LIMITED) ) DIGITAL
DIRECTORS’ REPORT INE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 VENTURES

4. COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr Canicais is a corporate advisory executive of corporate advisory firm Smallcap Corporate Pty Ltd, which specialises
in corporate advice and compliance administration to public companies. Mr Canicais has been involved in financial
reporting and corporate compliance for over 10 years. Mr Canicais is an associate member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants and an associate member of the Governance Institute of Australia.

5. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the company during the year was wine distribution, focusing on the Australian and Asian
wine market. During the year the Group acquired Wine Depot, an online platform aiming to make the wine supply
chain more efficient by allowing retailers the ability to connect with suppliers and drop ship orders directly to their
customers from inventory held in strategically placed depots.

6. CORPORATE STRUCTURE

Digital Wine Ventures Limited is a Company limited by shares that is incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The
Company is listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (‘ASX’) under ASX code DW8 and whose shares are publicly
traded on the Australian Securities Exchange Limited. An overview of the ownership structure for Digital Wine is shown
below:

Dawine Limited - Parent Entity

Wine Depot Holdings Pty Ltd - 100% owned controlled entity
Sticks Yarra Valley Pty Ltd - 100% owned controlled entity
Sticks Yarra Valley Vineyard Pty Ltd - 100% owned controlled entity
CGWDH Pty Ltd - 100% owned controlled entity
Dawine (HK) Limited - 100% owned CGWDH Pty Ltd
Dawine Trading (Shanghai) Limited - 100% owned Dawine (HK) Limited

7. REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
WINEDEPOT - Business Overview

On the 3" May 2019, the company announced its successful acquisition of Wine Depot Holdings Pty Ltd
(WINEDEPOT), a vertically integrated trading and logistics platform designed to provide Australia’s $40 billion wine
industry an end-to-end supply chain solution.

To support the platform, WINEDEPOT will be rolling out a network of physical ‘depot’s to service key markets. Each
depot will holds a broad range, but limited volume of inventory on consignment, typically enough for 2-6 weeks cover.
Supplier’s orders are routed to the depot closest to the delivery address where they are picked, packed (by bottle or case)
and drop-shipped to the customer.

Depots are then automatically replenished on a bi-weekly basis from WINEDEPOT’s regional bulk storage facilities
on behalf of suppliers.

Key benefits the cloud-based technology platform provides stakeholders include:

*  Reduced freight costs;

*  Reduced shipping times;

*  Reduced paperwork & administration;

*  Reduced working capital requirement;

*  Reduced errors & breakages;

* Increased customer reach;

* Increased customer satisfaction and repeat sales.

Wine Depot’s integrated wine trading and smart logistics platform is the first of its kind in the world and is expected to
go live in Australia before being expanded into other key markets for Australian wine such as China, USA, UK, Canada,
Hong Kong, Singapore and New Zealand.
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CEO Dean Taylor believes the WINEDEPOT platform will not only appeal to local wine producers, but also
international wine brands looking for a way to service Australian consumers either directly or their resellers. In particular
he sees New Zealand producers who represent almost half of the wine imported into the country taking advantage of the
platform.

Mr. Taylor believes that many distributors and importers will also take advantage of WINEDEPOT s platform to service
the rapidly growing online and direct-to-consumer segments or use it to replace their existing warehouses which are
largely subscale, lacking in technology and a significant overhead cost weighing on their profitability.

“I also expect many online retailers and marketplaces will also utilise WINEDEPOT to improve their customer service
levels, expand their ranges and to reduce the amount of inventory they carry. Our platform provides them the ability to
deliver to 85% of orders nationally within 24 hours at cost that they easily absorb into their margins.”

“Our platform is an exciting development for Australia’s 2,468 wineries and 6,251 grape growers who collectively
employ over 172,736 full and part-time employees and contribute over $40 billion annually to the Australian economy.”

Major Partnership with Australia Post

On the 1% July 2019, the company announced it had partnered with Australia Post. Under the agreement
WINEDEPOT’s first four ‘depots’ will be established within Australia Post distribution centers located in Sydney,
Melbourne, Brisbane and Perth. This will allow WINEDEPOT’s customers orders to flow directly into Australia Posts
fulfillment system, avoiding the typical need for collection, transfer and sortation - significantly reducing delivery times,
freight costs and the opportunity for breakages.

Digital Wine Ventures CEO, Dean Taylor explains “The partnership with Australia Post greatly reduces our initial
capital requirements and allows us to roll out our first four Australian depots by the end of this year well ahead of our
original schedule. That’s a massive saving in both time and capital expenditure that will allow us to start looking at ways
to expand the platform into other markets such as China, UK, Singapore, New Zealand and USA, as early as next year”.

Major Partnership with Wine Storage & Logistics Pty Ltd

On the 10" July 2019, the company announced it had partnered with Wine Storage and Logistics Pty Ltd (WSL), a
privately owned Australian company that provides logistics services to the global wine and beverage industry.

Under the agreement, WSL will establish a dedicated central storage and distribution facility, which will serve as
WINEDEPOT’s main depository for supplier’s inventory used to support an expanding network of ‘depots’. The facility
will also serve as WINEDEPOT s local depot servicing the Adelaide market.

Digital Wine Ventures CEO, Dean Taylor explains “Each depot in our network holds a very broad range of inventory,
but only in limited quantities. To maintain sufficient stock cover, the depots will need to be replenished on a regular
basis using Al and other predictive software.”

“To support this model we needed a flexible and dynamic operator who was prepared to embrace and invest in new
technology. In this regard WSL are the perfect fit for WINEDEPOT. With four sites and tens of thousands of pallets of
wine under management for global clients like Treasury Wines, Pernod Ricard, Constellation Brands and Accolade,
they certainly have the scale, capability and experience we required.”

Digital Wine Ventures CEO Dean Taylor believes that Adelaide is the perfect location for WINEDEPOT’s central
distribution facility.

“For a start it’s located in South Australia where almost 50% of the nations wine is produced. Secondly, it’s a back route
for line-haul making it very cost effective to ship pallets around the country. Thirdly, its direct access to an international
port allows us to manage export orders on behalf of our customers. Last, but not least, rent rates are significantly lower
in South Australia than in most of the country. All of these factors help us to keep our costs down and achieve our
mission of removing inefficiency in the existing supply chain.”

WINEDEPOT — China Expansion Plans

Whilst the short and medium focus of the company is to roll out the WINEDEPOT business in Australia, Digital Wine
Ventures still has China in its sights fully utilising the companies pre-existing DAWINE platform.
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Digital Wine Ventures CEO, Dean Taylor is confident that the partnership with Wine Storage & Logistics (WSL) will
help accelerate these plans.

“As it stands WSL send over 500 containers per year to China. They also provide export labeling, container packing,
air-freight and marine shipping services. Being able to harness this capability to support our China expansion plans
made partnering with WSL very attractive.”

“Digital Wine Ventures already has the corporate, legal, financial and technical structures to allow us to operate in
China. Being able to leverage this infrastructure and our relationship with WSL to expand WINEDEPOT into China as
early as next year is very exciting.”

“Over the last 12 months Australia has exported over $1.2 billion wine into China, up 7% on the year before. It’s a
market that’s going to continue to grow and we believe a platform like WINEDEPOT will help both Australian and
New Zealand wineries increase their exposure to that market.”.

CORPORATE

On 25 October 2018 the Company completed a $506,000 capital raise, being tranche 1 of a total expected capital raising
for $1.06m. On the 28" May 2019, the company announced it successfully closed tranche 2 of the capital raising of
$600,000 through the issue of 100,000,000 new shares at an issue price of $0.006 per share.

This included $46,000 of oversubscriptions, which were issued using the Company’s existing Listing Rule 7.1 capacity.
Separately, 5,736,667 shares were issued to our advisors at a price of $0.006 per share.

On 1 February 2019, Dean Taylor officially joined the Company as Chief Executive Officer. Mr Taylor is a digital
pioneer and start-up veteran with seven successful wine ventures under his belt including Cracka Wines, Wine Ark and
My Wine Guy. Mr Taylor stated he is excited about joining Digital Wine Ventures and the opportunity to drive a project
that has the potential to release so much value and efficiency within the existing wine supply chain.

8. SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS

In the opinion of the directors, there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group that occurred during
the year under review not otherwise disclosed in this report or in the financial report.

9. FINANCIAL POSITION & OPERATING RESULTS
The financial results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2019 are:

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
Cash and cash equivalents ($) 889,285 1,019,115
Net assets ($) 900,117 971,907
Revenue ($) 237,288 231,333
Net loss after tax ($) (1,655,517) (2,108,315)

Operating Results

Digital Wine’s net loss after income tax for the year ended 30 June 2019 totalled $1,655,517, which compared with a
loss of $2,108,315 in the previous financial year.

The operating loss in the current year was a result of operational costs for the Group’s operations in China, costs for the
completion of the acquisition of Wine Depot Holdings Pty Ltd and administrative expenditure.

Financial Position

During the financial year, net assets of the Company and its controlled entities decreased by $65,604 to $906,303 at 30
June 2019. The decrease was a result of the operating loss for the year.
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10. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

As announced on 10 July 2019, the Group announced that is has partnered with Wine Storage Logistics Pty Ltd (WSL)
to establish a major wine storage and distribution centre. Under the agreement, WSL will establish and operate a
dedicated central storage and distribution facility for WINEDEPOT, which will serve as their main distribution centre
for supplier’s inventory used to support an expanding network of local wine depots.

No other matters or circumstances have arisen, since the end of the year, which significantly affected, or may
significantly affect, the operations of the Consolidated entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the
Consolidated entity in subsequent financial years.

11. LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS OF OPERATION

The Company will continue to pursue its principal activity of wine distribution as outlined under the heading ‘Review
of Operations’ of this Report.

12. MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS

The number of Director’s meetings held during the financial year and the number of meetings attended by each Director
during the time the Director held office are:

Number eligible Number

to attend attended
Mr Piers Lewis 6 6
Mr Dean Taylor 4 4
Mr Michael Edwards 6 6
Mr Sam Atkins 6 6
Mr Anthony Ramage 1 1

13. ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS

There have been no recorded incidents of non-compliance with any applicable international, national or local
declarations, treaties, conventions or regulations associated with environmental issues during the year. There have not
been any known significant breaches of any environmental regulations during the period under review and up until the
date of this report.

14. REMUNERATION REPORT

This report for the year ended 30 June 2019 outlines the remuneration arrangements of the Group in accordance with
the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 (‘the Act’) and its regulations. This information has been audited as
required by section 308(3C) of the Act.

The remuneration report details the remuneration arrangements for key management personnel (‘KMP”) who are defined
as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the
Group, directly or indirectly, including any Director (whether executive or otherwise) of the Parent company.

Other than the directors, the Company does not currently have any other executives.

This Remuneration Report covers the following Key Management Personnel:

DIRECTORS POSITION APPOINTMENT / (RESIGNATION)

Mr Piers Lewis Non-Executive Chairman | Appointed 23 February 2017

Mr Dean Taylor Executive Director Appointed 1 February 2019

Mr Michael Edwards Non-Executive Director | Appointed 23 February 2017

Mr Sam Atkins Non-Executive Director | Appointed 23 February 2017

Mr Anthony Ramage Non-Executive Director | Appointed 20 April 2018 / Resigned 28 November 2018

There have been no other changes after reporting date and up to the date that the financial report was authorised for
issue.
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The Remuneration Report is set out under the following main headings:

Remuneration Philosophy

Remuneration Governance, Structure and Approvals

Remuneration and Performance

Details of Remuneration

Contractual Arrangements

Share-based Compensation

Equity Instruments Issued on Exercise of Remuneration Options

Voting and comments made at the Company’s 2018 Annual General Meeting
Other transactions with KMP

—TmoTmoguQw >

A Remuneration Philosophy
KMP have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group. KMP of Digital
Wine comprise the Board of Directors.

The performance of the Group depends upon the quality of its KMP. To prosper the Company must attract, motivate
and retain appropriately skilled Directors and Executives.

The Group’s broad remuneration policy is to ensure the remuneration package properly reflects the person’s duties and
responsibilities and that remuneration is competitive in attracting, retaining and motivating people of the highest quality.

No remuneration consultants were employed during the financial year.

B Remuneration Governance, Structure and Approvals
Remuneration of Directors is currently set by the Board of Directors. The Board has not established a separate
Remuneration Committee at this point in the Group's development, nor has the Board engaged the services of an external
remuneration consultant. It is considered that the size of the Board along with the level of activity of the Group renders
this impractical. The Board is primarily responsible for:

- The over-arching executive remuneration framework;

- Operation of the incentive plans which apply to executive directors and senior executives (the executive team),

including key performance indicators and performance hurdles;
- Remuneration levels of executives, and
- Non-executive director fees.

Their objective is to ensure that remuneration policies and structures are fair and competitive and aligned with the long-
term interests of the Company.

Non-Executive Remuneration

The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors consists of Directors’ fees, payable in arrears. The Company’s
constitution provides that the remuneration of Non-Executive Directors will be not more than the aggregate fixed sum
determined by a general meeting. Digital Wines’s constitution sets the payment of fees to the Non-Executive Directors,
which in aggregate cannot exceed $500,000 per annum, although this may be varied by ordinary resolution of the
Shareholders in general meeting. The remuneration of any executive director that may be appointed to the Board will
be fixed by the Board and may be paid by way of fixed salary or consultancy fee.

Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors is based on fees approved by the Board of Directors and is set at levels to
reflect market conditions and encourage the continued services of the Directors. The nature and amount of remuneration
is collectively considered by the Board of Directors with reference to relevant employment conditions and fees
commensurate to a company of similar size and level of activity, with the overall objective of ensuring maximum
stakeholder benefit from the retention of high performing Directors.

Non-Executive Directors do not receive retirement benefits but are able to participate in share-based incentive
programmes in accordance with Company policy.

The remuneration of Non-Executives is detailed in Table 1, and their contractual arrangements are disclosed in “Section
E — Contractual Arrangements”.

10
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Executive Remuneration
The nature and amount of remuneration of executives are assessed on a periodic basis with the overall objective of
ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high performing Executives.

The main objectives sought when reviewing executive remuneration is that the Company has:
- Coherent remuneration policies and practices to attract and retain Executives;
- Executives who will create value for shareholders;
- Competitive remuneration offered benchmarked against the external market; and

- Fair and responsible rewards to Executives having regard to the performance of the Group, the performance of
the Executives and the general pay environment.

The remuneration of Executives is detailed in Table 1, and their contractual arrangements are disclosed in “Section E —
Contractual Arrangements”.

The Company aims to reward Executives with a level and mix of remuneration commensurate with their position and
responsibilities within the Company and aligned with market practice. Executive contracts are reviewed annually by the
Board, in the absence of a Remuneration Committee, for their approval. The process consists of a review of company,
business unit and individual performance, relevant comparative remuneration internally and externally and, where
appropriate, external advice independent of management.

Executive remuneration and incentive policies and practices must be aligned with the Company’s vision, values and
overall business objectives. Executive remuneration and incentive policies and practices must be designed to motivate
management to pursue the Company’s long-term growth and success and demonstrate a clear relationship between the
Company’s overall performance and the performance of executives.

C Remuneration and Performance
The following table shows the gross revenue, losses and share price of the Group as at 30 June for the last five financial

years:

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18 30-Jun-17 30-Jun-16 30-Jun-15
Revenue ($) 237,288 231,333 136,470 45,565 2,155
Net loss after tax ($) (1,655,517) (2,108,315) (4,506,480) (217,374) (128,207)
Share Price ($) 0.005 0.005 0.015 N/A N/A

Relationship between Remuneration and Company Performance
Given the current phase of the Company’s development the Board does not consider earnings during the current and
previous financial years when determining, and in relation to, the nature and amount of remuneration of KMP.

Short Term Incentive Package
There were no short term incentive based payments made during the financial year (2018: $nil).

Long Term Incentive Package

Options Holdings of KMP:

The Board considers that for each KMP who receive options, their experience in the Wine industry will greatly assist
the Company in achieving its strategy and objectives.

The Board is of the opinion that the expiry date and exercise price of the options currently on issue to the Directors,
other KMP and its Executives is a sufficient, long term incentive to reward Executives in a manner which aligns the
element of remuneration with the creation of shareholder wealth. Subsequently, the issue of options is not linked to
performance conditions because by setting the option price at a level above the current share price at the time the options
are granted, provides incentive for management to improve the Group’s performance.

Currently, 237,000,000 unlisted options are on issue, of which 36,000,000 are held by KMP:
- Mr Piers Lewis: 12,000,000
- Mr Michael Edwards: 12,000,000
- Mr Sam Atkins: 12,000,000

11
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CEO Shares and Performance Rights:

As part of his appointment of CEO, Mr Dean Taylor was issued 16,666,667 shares and 100,000,000 performance rights.

The terms of the performance rights issued to Mr Taylor are as follows:

Class A B

Number 50,000,000 50,000,000

Vesting Both of the following conditions being satisfied: | Both of the following conditions being satisfied:

Condition e the Company generating at least $1.25 e the Company generating at least $2
million of revenue over any million of revenue over any consecutive
consecutive three month  period three month period (equating to
(equating to annualised revenue of at annualised revenue of at least $8
least $5 million); and million); and

e avolume weighted average price of the e avolume weighted average price of the

Company's Shares over  any Company's Shares over any consecutive
consecutive three month period of at three month period of at least $0.025.
least $0.015.

Expiry 3 years after the date Dean Taylor commences | 5 years after the date Dean Taylor commences

Date employment with the Company employment with the Company

The Board is of the opinion that the nature of the performance conditions of the performances rights provide a
sufficient, long term incentive to reward Mr Taylor in a manner which aligns the element of remuneration with the
creation of shareholder wealth.

D Details of Remuneration
The table below details the various components of remuneration for each member of the key management personnel of
the Group. The term “Key Management Personnel” (or “KMP”) refers to those persons having authority and
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the group directly or indirectly including any

Director (whether executive or otherwise) of the Group.

Table 1: Remuneration of KMP of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2019 is set out below:

Post- Share-
employment based
Short-term employee benefits benefits payments
Salary Non- Super-
& fees monetary Other annuation Shares Total
$ $ $ $ $ $

30-Jun-19
Directors

Mr Piers Lewis 122,500 - - - 122,500

Mr Dean Taylor 114,583 - - 100,000 214,583

Mr Michael Edwards 36,000 - - - 36,000

Mr Sam Atkins 36,000 - - - 36,000

Mr Anthony Ramage 14,800 - - - 14,800
Total 323,883 - - 100,000 423,883
30-Jun-18
Directors

Mr Piers Lewis 210,000 - - - 210,000

Mr Michael Edwards 36,000 - - - 36,000

Mr Sam Atkins 76,000 - - - 76,000

Mr Anthony Ramage 7,000 - - - 7,000
Total 329,000 - - - 329,000
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The relative proportions of remuneration that are linked to performance and those that are fixed are as follows:

Fixed remuneration At risk - STI (%) At risk - LTT (%)
Name 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Directors
Mr Piers Lewis 100% 100% - - - -
Mr Dean Taylor 53% - - - 47% -
Mr Michael Edwards 100% 100% - - - -
Mr Sam Atkins 100% 100% - - - -
Mr Anthony Ramage 100% 100% - - - -
Table 2: Shareholdings of KMP (Direct and Indirect Holdings)
Balance at Other changes Purchased Balance at
30-Jun-19 1/07/2018 during the year | on market 30/06/2019
Directors
Mr Piers Lewis 37,900,000 - - 37,900,000
Mr Dean Taylor (¥ 16,666,667 83,333,333 @ - 100,000,000
Mr Michael Edwards - - - -
Mr Sam Atkins 476,814 - - 476,814
Mr Anthony Ramage © 37,100,001 - - 37,100,001
Total 92,143,482 83,333,333 - 175,476,815

(1) The opening balance represents Mr Taylors’ initial interests as at the date of his appointment as a director on 1
February 2019.

(2) Mr Taylor received 83,333,333 shares as consideration for the sale of Wine Depot Holdings Pty Ltd to the Group.

(3) The closing balance represents Mr Ramage’s final interests as at the date of his resignation as a director on 28

November 2018.
Balance at Other changes Purchased Balance at
30-Jun-18 1/07/2017 during the year | on market 30/06/2018
Directors
Mr Piers Lewis 36,400,000 - 1,500,000 37,900,000
Mr Michael Edwards - - - -
Mr Sam Atkins 476,814 - - 476,814
Mr Anthony Ramage V 35,000,001 - 2,100,000 37,100,001
Total 71,876,815 - 3,600,000 75,476,815

(1) This opening balance represents Mr Ramage’s initial interests as at the date of his appointment as a director on 20
April 2018.

Table 3: Option holdings of KMP (Direct and Indirect Holdings)

Balance at Granted as Expired Balance at Vested &
30-Jun-19 1/07/2018 remuneration Options 30/06/2019 exercisable
Directors

Mr Piers Lewis 12,000,000 - - 12,000,000 12,000,000
Mr Dean Taylor ¥ - - - - -
Mr Michael Edwards 12,000,000 - - 12,000,000 12,000,000
Mr Sam Atkins 12,000,000 - - 12,000,000 12,000,000
Mr Anthony Ramage @ 800,000 - - 800,000 800,000
Total 36,800,000 - - 36,800,000 36,800,000

(1) The opening balance represents Mr Taylors’ initial interests as at the date of his appointment as a director on 1

February 2019.

(2) The closing balance represents Mr Ramage’s final interests as at the date of his resignation as a director on 28

November 2018.
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Balance at Granted as Expired Balance at Vested &
30-Jun-18 1/07/2017 remuneration Options 30/06/2018 exercisable
Directors
Mr Piers Lewis 12,000,000 - - 12,000,000 12,000,000
Mr Michael Edwards 12,000,000 - - 12,000,000 12,000,000
Mr Sam Atkins 12,000,000 - - 12,000,000 12,000,000
Mr Anthony Ramage V 800,000 - - 800,000 800,000
Total 36,800,000 - - 36,800,000 36,800,000

(M

This opening balance represents Mr Ramage’s initial interests as at the date of his appointment as a director on
20 April 2018.

Table 4: Performance rights of KMP (Direct and Indirect Holdings)

Balance at Granted as Expired Balance at Vested &
30-Jun-19 1/07/2018 remuneration Options 30/06/2019 exercisable
Directors

Mr Piers Lewis - - - - -

Mr Dean Taylor - 100,000,000 - | 100,000,000 -

Mr Michael Edwards - - - - -

Mr Sam Atkins - - - - -

Mr Anthony Ramage - - - - -

Total - 100,000,000 - | 100,000,000 -
E Contractual Arrangements

Mr Piers Lewis
Non-Executive Chairman (until 30 November 2018)

Contract: The Company and Mr Lewis entered into an executive services agreement dated 24 November 2016,

pursuant to which Mr Lewis was appointed as Executive Chairman commencing on the date the Company was

re-admitted to the official list. The Commencement Date was therefore 23 February 2017.

Salary: $160,000 per annum (excluding directors’ fees), on a total employment cost basis, which will be

reviewed annually by the Company in accordance with the relevant policy of the Company;

Director Fees: $50,000 per annum payable by the Company to Mr Lewis during the period Mr Lewis serves as

a Director of the Company.

Director Options: 12,000,000 Director Options, as approved by shareholders at the 2016 AGM.

Term: 3 years commencing on the Commencement Date.

Termination: The Company may terminate the ESA:

(1) Without cause by giving not less than six months’ written notice; or

(i) Summarily without notice if Mr Lewis is removed as a director, is of unsound mind, commits any serious
breach of the ESA that is not remedied within 14 days, demonstrates incompetence in terms of
performance, commits or is guilty of gross misconduct or is convicted of a criminal offence.

During the previous year, effective 12 April 2018, Mr Lewis agreed with the Board to defer 25% of his salary
and directors’ fees until such point that the Company is in an appropriate working capital position. In June
2019, the Board agreed to repay 50% of the amount owing at that date, amounting to $23,875, and Mr Lewis
agreed in July 2019 to forgive the remainder of the amount.

Non-Executive Chairman (effective from 30 November 2018)

Effective 30 November 2018, the Board changed Mr Lewis’ role to Non-Executive Chairman. Alongside this
change, Mr Lewis’ remuneration was set at $60,000 per annum.
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»  Mr Dean Taylor — Executive Director / Chief Executive Officer

- Contract: The Company and Mr Taylor entered into a Senior Executive Employment Agreement (“SEEA”) on
16 August 2018, pursuant to which Mr Taylor was appointed as Executive Director on 1 February 2019.
- Sign-on bonus: $100,000 to be settled by the issue of shares at a deemed issue price of $0.006 per share
- Remuneration: Base salary of $250,000 per annum exclusive of superannuation
- Short term incentive: At the absolute discretion of the Board, an annual bonus up to an amount equal to 25%
of the base salary
- Performance rights: 100,000,000 performance right as approved by shareholders at the 2018 AGM
- Termination: The Company may terminate the SEEA:
(1) Without cause by giving not less than three months’ written notice; or
(i) Summarily without notice if Mr Taylor is removed as a director, is of unsound mind, bankrupt, commits
any serious breach of the SEEA, commits or is guilty of gross misconduct or is convicted of a criminal
offence.

»  Mr Michael Edwards — Non-Executive Director

- Contract: Commenced on 23 February 2017.

- Remuneration $36,000 per annum.

- Director Options: 12,000,000 Director Options, as approved by shareholders at the 2016 AGM.

- Term: Automatically ceases at the end of any meeting at which they are not re-elected as a director by the
shareholders of the Company or otherwise ceases in accordance with the Constitution.

»  Mr Sam Atkins — Non-Executive Director

- Contract: Commenced on 23 February 2017.

- Remuneration $36,000 per annum.

- Director Options: 12,000,000 Director Options, as approved by shareholders at the 2016 AGM.

- Term: Automatically ceases at the end of any meeting at which they are not re-elected as a director by the
shareholders of the Company or otherwise ceases in accordance with the Constitution.

»  Mr Anthony Ramage — Non-Executive Director

- Contract: Commenced on 20 April 2018.

- Remuneration $36,000 per annum.

- Term: Automatically ceases at the end of any meeting at which they are not re-elected as a director by the
shareholders of the Company or otherwise ceases in accordance with the Constitution.

F Share-based Compensation

The Company rewards Directors and senior management for their performance and aligns their remuneration with the
creation of shareholder wealth by issuing share options and or shares. Share-based compensation is at the discretion of
the Board and no individual has a contractual right to participate in any share-based plan or to receive any guaranteed
benefits.

>  Shares

As part of his appointment of CEO, Mr Dean Taylor was issued 16,666,667 shares as consideration for a $100,000 sign-
on bonus. The shares as escrowed for 12 months from the date of issue.

There were no other shares issued as share-based compensation issued to Directors during the year.
» Options
There were no options issued to Directors during the year.

At the date of this report, the unissued ordinary shares of Digital Wine under option carry no dividend or voting rights.
When exercisable, each option is convertible into one ordinary share of the Company.
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>  Performance rights

During the year, 100,000,0000 performance rights were issued to Mr Dean Taylor under the Senior Executive
Employment Agreement and approved by shareholders at the 2018 AGM.

At the date of this report, the performance rights have not vested.

G Equity Instruments Issued on Exercise of Remuneration Options
No remuneration options were exercised during the financial year (2018: nil).

H Voting and comments made at the Company’s 2018 AGM

The adoption of the Remuneration Report for the financial year ended 30 June 2018 was put to the shareholders of the
Company at the AGM held 30 November 2018. The resolution was passed without amendment. The Company did not
receive any specific feedback at the AGM or throughout the year on its remuneration practices.

I Other transactions with KMP
The following transactions occurred with related parties:
30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
$ $
Accounting / Company Secretary Services - Smallcap Corporate Pty Ltd
(a Company which Piers Lewis is a Director) 120,925 64,334
120,925 64,334

In addition to the above, the Group acquired Wine Depot Holdings Pty Ltd for consideration of 83,333,333 shares as
described in Note 11. The vendor of Wine Depot Holdings Pty Ltd was Mr Dean Taylor.

END OF REMUNERATION REPORT

15. DIVIDENDS
No dividends were paid during the year and no recommendation is made as to dividends.

16. OPTIONS
During the year the Company issued 27,000,000 options to consultants and advisors.

No ordinary shares have been issued as a result of the exercise of options during or since the end of the financial year.

17. INDEMNIFYING OFFICERS OR AUDITOR

During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring all its Directors and current
and former executive officers against a liability incurred as such a Director or executive officer to the extent permitted
by the Corporation Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits disclose of the nature of the liability and the amount
of the premium.

The Company has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or
auditors of the Company against a liability incurred as such an officer or auditor.

18. PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF COMPANY

No person has applied for leave of court to bring proceedings on behalf of the company or intervene in any proceedings
to which the company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the company for all or any part of
those proceedings.
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19. NON-AUDIT SERVICES

The Company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where the
auditor’s expertise and experience with the Company and/or the group are important.

There were no non-audit services provided by the auditor (Bentleys Audit & Corporate (WA) Pty Ltd) during the year.

The Board of Directors has considered the position and is satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services is
compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The directors
are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services by the auditor, as set out below, did not compromise the auditor
independent requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:
e All non-audit services have been reviewed by the Board of Directors to ensure they do not impact the impartiality
and objectivity of the auditor; and
e None of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants.

20. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In recognising the need for the highest standards of corporate behaviours and accountability, the directors of Digital
Wine Ventures Limited support and have adhered to the principles of corporate governance and have established a set
of policies and manuals for the purpose of managing corporate governance. The Company’s detailed Corporate
Governance Statement is lodged with ASX and available from the Company’s website.

21. LEAD AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under s 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on
page 18.

This directors’ report is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors:

Piers Lewis
Non-Executive Chairman

Perth, Western Australia
Dated: 30 August 2019
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Bentleys

THINKING AHEAD

Bentleys Audit & Corporate
(WA) Pty Ltd

London House

Level 3,

216 St Georges Terrace

Perth WA 6000

PO Box 7775
Cloisters Square WA 6850

To The Board of Directors
ABN 33 121 222 802

T +61 8 9226 4500
F +61 8 9226 4300

Auditor’s Independence Declaration under Section 307C of the
bentleys.com.au

Corporations Act 2001

As lead audit director for the audit of the financial statements Digital Wine Ventures
Limited for the financial year ended 30 June 2019, | declare that to the best of my
knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of:

= the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to
the audit; and

= any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

Yours faithfully

enttey MK Lot

BENTLEYS MARK DELAURENTIS ca
Chartered Accountants Partner

Dated at Perth this 30" day of August 2019

it Advisor:
"Bt = A member of Bentleys, a network of independent accounting firms located throughout Australia, New Zealand and China that trade ) cvisors
A \“\a\ as Bentleys. Al members of the Bentleys Network are affiliated only and are separate legal entities and not in Partnership. Liability Accountants

limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standiards Legislation. .
. ) Auditors



DIGITAL WINE VENTURES LIMITED

(FORMERLY DAWINE LIMITED)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME IN
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 NT

Sale of goods

Sales return

Cost of sales

Gross (loss) / profit

Other income

Expenses

Administration, consulting and other expenses
Advertising and marketing expenses

Amortisation expense

Depreciation expense

Director fees

Foreign exchange loss

Office and warehouse expenses

Salaries and wages

Travel expenses

Website expenses

Impairment expense

Loss from continuing operations before income tax
Income taxexpense

Loss from continuing operations after income tax

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive loss for the year
Loss per share attributable to ordinary equity holders

- Basic loss per share
- Diluted loss per share

Notes

19

10

18
17

18

12

13
13

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
$ $
235,262 216,501
(196,010) -
(113,440) (203,704)
(74,188) 12,797
2,026 14,832
(894,599) (576317)
(123,822) (278,182)
- (109,594)
(8,407) (5,531)
(323,883) (289,000)
7,983 (7,193)
(88,860) (107,530)
(74,024) (12,626)
(18,966) (68,894)
(40,269) (297,499)
(18,508) (383,578)
(1,655,517) (2,108,315)
(1,655,517) (2,108,315)
30,220 28,979
30,220 28,979
(1,625,297) (2,079,336)
(0.002) (0.004)
(0.002) (0.004)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Inventories

Total Current Assets

Non-Current Assets

Plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Total Non-Current Assets
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Total Current Liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS

EQUITY

Issued capital
Reserves
Accumulated losses
TOTAL EQUITY

Notes 30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
$ $
14 889,285 1,019,115
15 53,228 164,870
16 - 53,480
942,513 1,237,465
17 6,935 19,574
18 339,003 -
345,938 19,574
1,288,451 1,257,039
19 388,333 285,132
388,333 285,132
388,333 285,132
900,118 971,907
20 7,928,374 6,410,021
21 1,587,637 1,522,262
22 (8,615,893) (6,960,376)
900,118 971,907

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Share-based Foreign
Payment Currency
Issued & Option  Translation Accumulated Total
Capital Reserve Reserve Losses Equity
$ $ $ $ $
At1 July 2017 6,412,818 1,491,755 1,528 (4,852,061) 3,054,040
Comprehensive income:
Loss for the year - - - (2,108,315) (2,108,315)
Other comprehensive income - - 28,979 - 28,979
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - 28,979 (2,108,315) (2,079,336)
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital raising costs (2,797) - - - (2,797)
Total equity transactions (2,797) - - - (2,797)
At30 June 2018 6,410,021 1,491,755 30,507 (6,960,376) 971,907
Share-based Foreign
Payment Currency
Issued & Option  Translation Accumulated Total
Capital Reserve Reserve Losses Equity
$ $ $ $ $

At1 July 2018 6,410,021 1,491,755 30,507 (6,960,376) 971,907
Comprehensive income:
Loss for the year - - - (1,655,517) (1,655,517)
Other comprehensive income - - 30,220 - 30,220
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - 30,220 (1,655,517) (1,625,297)
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Shares issued 1,630,113 - - - 1,630,113
Capital raising costs (111,760) - - - (111,760)
Options issues - 35,155 - - 35,155
Total equity transactions 1,518,353 35,155 - - 1,553,508
At30 June 2019 7,928,374 1,526,910 60,727 (8,615,893) 900,118

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Notes 30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
$ $
Cash flows used in operating activities
Receipts from customers 147,158 299,953
Payments to suppliers and employees (1,337,982) (1,709,132)
Interest received 9 2,002 7,700
Net cash flows used in operating activities 14 (1,188,822) (1,401,479)
Cash flows usedin investing activities
Purchase of plant and equipment 17 (1,996) (10,023)
Purchase of intangible assets 18 (45,012) -
Net cash flows usedin investing activities (47,008) (10,023)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds fromissue of securities and securities subscriptions, net of costs 1,106,000 (2,796)
Net cash flows from financing activities 1,106,000 (2,796)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (129,830) (1,414,298)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1,019,115 2,433,413
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 14 889,285 1,019,115

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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1. REPORTING ENTITY

Digital Wine Ventures Limited (referred to hereafter as ‘Digital Wine’ or the 'Company') is a Company domiciled in
Australia. The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 30 June 2019 comprise
the Company and its controlled entities (‘Consolidated Entity’ or ‘Group”). The Group is primarily involved in wine
distribution, focussing on the rapidly expanding Asian wine market.

The address of the Company's registered office is Suite 8H, 325 Pitt Street, Sydney NSW 2000.

2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations
Act 2001. Digital Wine Ventures Limited is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 August 2019.

(a) Compliance with IFRS

The consolidated financial statements of the Consolidated Entity also comply with International Financial Reporting
Standards (‘IFRS’) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’).

(b) Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with the historical
cost convention, unless otherwise stated.

(¢) Going concern

The financial report has been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of normal business
activity and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business.

The Group incurred a loss for the year of $1,655,517 (2018: $2,108,315) and net cash outflows from operating activities
0f $1,188,822 (2018: $1,401,479).

As at 30 June 2019, the Group has a working capital position of $554,180 (2018: $952,332).

The ability of the Group to continue as a going concern is principally dependent upon the following:
- The commencement profitable operations of the Wine Depot platform;
- Securing funds by raising capital from equity markets; and
- managing cashflow in line with available funds.

These conditions indicate a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the ability of the Group to continue
as a going concern. In the event the above matters are not achieved, the Group will be required to raise funds for working
capital from debt or equity sources.

The directors have prepared a cash flow forecast, which indicates that the Group will have sufficient cash flows to meet
all commitments and working capital requirements for the 12 month period from the date of signing this financial report.

Based on the cash flow forecasts and other factors referred to above, the directors are satisfied that the going concern
basis of preparation is appropriate. In particular, given the Group’s history of raising capital to date, the directors are
confident of the Group’s ability to raise additional funds as and when they are required.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern it may be required to realise its assets and extinguish its
liabilities other than in the normal course of business and at amounts different to those stated in the financial statements.
The financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of asset carrying
amounts or to the amount and classification of liabilities that might result should the Group be unable to continue as a
going concern and meet its debts as and when they fall due.
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3.  PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of the Company as at 30
June 2019 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year ended 30 June 2019. Digital Wine Ventures Limited and its
subsidiaries together are referred to in these financial statements as the 'Consolidated entity' or 'Group'.

(i)  Business combination

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. Control exists when the Group is exposed to variable returns from another
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:
e The fair value of the consideration transferred; plus
e The recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquire; plus
o Ifthe business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the existing equity interest in the acquire; less
e The net recognised amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such amounts
are generally recognised in profit or loss.

Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group
incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent consideration
is classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes
to the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit and loss.

(ii) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the Group are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. A change in ownership
interest, without the loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction, where the difference between the
consideration transferred and the book value of the share of the non-controlling interest acquired is recognised directly
in equity attributable to the parent.

Non-controlling interest in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Group. Losses
incurred by the Group are attributed to the non-controlling interest in full, even if that results in a deficit balance.

(iii) Loss of control

Where the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets including goodwill, liabilities and non-
controlling interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation differences recognised in equity. The
Group recognises the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any investment retained together with
any gain or loss in profit or loss.

24



DIGITAL WINE VENTURES LIMITED

(FORMERLY DAWINE LIMITED) ) DIGITAL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS INE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 VENTURES

4. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

(i)  Functional and presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars. The functional and presentation currency of
the Company is Australian dollars (AUD). The functional currency of the subsidiaries include AUD, Hong Kong Dollars
(HKD) and Chinese Yuan Renminbi (CNY).

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised
in profit or loss, except when they are deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment
hedges or are attributable to part of the net investments in a foreign operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, within finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income on a net basis within other income or
other expenses.

(iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

o Assets and liabilities for each Statement of Financial Position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date
of that Statement of Financial Position,

e Income and expenses for each Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions), and

¢ All resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and of
borrowings and other financial instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net investment are
repaid, the associated exchange differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

5. KEY JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with AASBs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. The key estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain assets and
liabilities within the next annual reporting period are:

Share Based Payment Transactions

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an internal valuation using Black-
Scholes option pricing model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted.
The accounting estimates and assumptions relating to equity-settled share based payments transactions would have no
impact on the carrying amounts of assets or liabilities within the next annual reporting period but may impact profit or
loss or equity.

Income Tax Expenses

Judgment is required in assessing whether deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial
position. Deferred tax assets, including those arising from temporary differences, are recognised only when it is
considered more likely than not that they will be recovered, which is dependent on the generation of future assessable
income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefits to be utilised. Refer to Note 12 for further details.
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6. OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Significant and other accounting policies that summarise the measurement basis used and are relevant to an
understanding of the financial statements are provided throughout the notes to the financial statements.

7. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

New, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted

The company has adopted all of the new, revised or amended Accounting Standards that are mandatory for the current
accounting period.

The adoption of these Accounting Standards and Interpretations are described below:

AASB 9 replaces AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (AASB 139) for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018, bringing together all three aspects of the accounting for financial instruments:
classification and measurement; impairment; and hedge accounting.

The Group has applied AASB 9 retrospectively, with the initial application date of 1 July 2018. The Group has elected
to restate comparative information.

AASB 9 sets out requirements for recognising and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and some contracts to
buy or sell non-financial items. The changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of AASB 9 did not have
a material impact on the Group’s financial statements.

As 0of 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2019, the Group’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, trade and
other receivables, trade and other payables, and borrowings.

Class of financial instrument | Original measurement | New measurement category

presented in the statement of | category under AASB 139 under AASB 9

financial position

Cash and cash equivalents Loans and receivables Financial assets at amortised cost

Trade and other receivables Loans and receivables Financial assets at amortised cost

Trade and other payables Financial liability at amortised | Financial liability at amortised
cost cost

The change in classification has not resulted in any re-measurement adjustments at 1 July 2018.
Refer to the relevant accounting policy disclosures for further details.

Impairment of financial assets

In relation to the financial assets carried at amortised cost, AASB 9 requires an expected credit loss model to be applied
as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under AASB 139. The expected credit loss model requires the Group to
account for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial asset. In particular, AASB 9 requires the Group to measure the
loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss (“ECL”) if the credit risk on the instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition. On the other hand, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group is required to measure the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to the ECL within the next 12 months.

There is no impact on the cash flows of the Group from the application of AASB 9.

Initial application of AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers
The Group has adopted AASB 15 with a date of initial application of 1 July 2018. Based on the Directors’ assessment
there was no impact on the Group’s existing revenue recognition policy arising from the adoption.

The Group has applied the AASB 15 cumulative effective method (ie by recognising the cumulative effect of initially
applying AASB 15 as an adjustment to the opening balance of equity at 1 July 2018). Therefore, the comparative
information has not been restated and continues to be reported under AASB 118: Revenue.

Any new, revised or amending Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early
adopted.
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The following table summarises the expected impact of new Accounting Standards that are not yet mandatory and have

not been early adopted:

Nature of Change

Application
Date

Impact on Initial Application

AASB 16: Leases (issued February 2016)

AASB 16 eliminates the operating and finance
lease classifications for lessees currently
accounted for under AASB 117 Leases. It
instead requires an entity to bring most leases
into its statement of financial position in a
similar way to how existing finance leases are
treated under AASB 117. An entity will be
required to recognise a lease liability and a
right of use asset in its statement of financial
position for most leases.

There are some optional exemptions for leases
with a period of 12 months or less and for low
value leases.

Lessor accounting remains largely unchanged
from AASB 117.

Annual
reporting
periods
beginning
on or after
1 January
2019.

Management has assessed the impact of AASB 16
on the Groups existing operations. The Standard is
not expected to have a material impact on the
transactions and balances recognised in the financial
statements when it is first adopted for the year
ending 30 June 2020, given the Group does not have
any leases (refer Note 24).
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION,

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision makers. The chief operating decision makers, who are responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, have been identified as the Board of Directors.

The Group operates only in one reportable segment being predominately ‘wine distribution’. During the period, the
Group acquired the Wine Depot Platform (refer Note 11) as part of a changed strategy to service the industry. The Board
considers its business operations in wine distribution to be its primary reporting function. Results are analysed as a
whole by the chief operating decision maker, this being the Board of Directors. Consequently revenue, profit, net assets
and total assets for the operating segment are reflected in this financial report.

9. REVENUE FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
$ $
Other income
Interest income 2,002 7,700
Miscellaneous income 24 7,132
2,026 14,832

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Wine sale revenue

The group primarily generated revenue from the sale of wine. Revenue from the sale of these goods is recognised when
control over the inventory has transferred to the customer, typically at physical delivery when title is transferred to the
customer.

Interest Income
Interest income is recognised when the Company gains control of the right to receive the interest payment.

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax.

10. EXPENSES

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
$ $

Administration, consulting and other expenses

Accounting and company secretary fees 182,018 117,994
Audit fees 31,249 32,683
Corporate consulting fees 438,277 277,753
Legal fees 72,674 31,765
Other expenses 170,381 116,122
Total Administration, consulting and other expenses 894,599 576,317

11. ASSET ACQUISITION
(a) WINE DEPOT HOLDINGS PTY LTD

On 23 April 2019, the Group acquired 100% of the ordinary share capital and voting rights of Wine Depot Holdings Pty
Ltd.

The acquisition was considered by management not to be a business combination as per AASB 3.

(b) Acquisition consideration

As consideration for the issued capital of Wine Depot Holdings Pty Ltd, the Company issued 83,333,333 shares to the
shareholders of Wine Depot Holdings Pty Ltd, representing total consideration of $333,333. No cash was paid as part
of the acquisition consideration. The asset acquired was considered to be the Wine Depot Platform intangible — refer
Note 18.
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
$ $

(a) Income Tax Expense
Reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable:

Loss before income tax expense (1,655,517) (2,108,315)
Prima facie income tax at 27.5% (2018: 27.5%) (455,267) (579,787)
Taxeffect of amounts not deductible (taxable) in calculating taxable income 6,800 167915
Deferred tax asset not brought to account on temporary differences & taxlosses (27,255) 112,882
Taxlosses carried forward 475,722 298,990

Income tax effect - -

(b) Deferred tax assets not recognised

Timing differences 104,693 9,256
Taxlosses -revenue 11,652,285 11,410,011
Tax losses - capital 5,643,444 4,366,676
Deferred tax assets not brought to account 17,400,422 15,785,943

RECOGNITION AND MEASURMENT
The income tax expense (revenue) for the year comprises current income tax expense (income) and deferred tax expense
(income).

Current taxes

Current income tax expense charged to the profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income calculated using applicable
income tax rates enacted, or substantially enacted, as at the end of the reporting date. Current tax liabilities (assets) are
therefore measured at the amounts expected to be paid to (recovered from) the relevant taxation authority.

Deferred taxes
Deferred income tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability balances during the year
as well as unused tax losses.

Current and deferred tax expense (income) is charged or credited directly to equity instead of the profit or loss when the
tax relates to items that are credited or charged directly to equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are ascertained based on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amount in the financial statements. Deferred tax assets also result where amounts have
been fully expensed but future tax deductions are available. No deferred income tax will be recognised from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a business combination, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable
profit and loss.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.
Their measurements also reflect the manner in which management expects to recover or settle that carrying amount of
the related asset or liability.

Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the deferred tax asset can be utilised.
Current assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists and it is intended that net
settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists, the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where
it is intended that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur
in the future periods in which significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be recovered or
settled.
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE
30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
Net loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Group () (1,655,517) (2,108,315)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basis per share (No) 680,896,434 584,726,753
Continuing operations
- Basic loss per share ($) 0.002) (0.004)

At the end of the 2019 financial year, the Group has 237,000,000 (2018: 210,000,000) unissued shares under option.
The Group does not report diluted earnings per share on annual losses generated by the Group. During the 2019 financial
year the Group’s unissued shares under option were anti-dilutive.

14. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
$ $

Cash at bank and on hand 889,285 1,019,115
Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18

$ $

Reconciliation of net loss after income tax to net cash flows used in operating activities:
Net loss after income tax (1,655,517) (2,108,315)
Adjustments for:
Amortisation expense - 109,594
Depreciation expense 8,407 5,531
Profit on sale of investments (2,002) (7,700)
Share based payments 134,152 -
Impairment expense 18,508 383,578
Investing related costs recognised in profit or loss 39,342 -
Change in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) / decrease in trade and other receivables 111,639 (24,043)
(Increase) / decrease in inventories 53,480 112,489
Increase / (decrease) in trade and other payables 103,169 127,387
Net cash flows used in operating activities (1,188,822) (1,401,479)

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, short term bills and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.
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15. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
$ $
GST / VAT recoverable 24,901 45,825
Prepayments 14,159 7,126
Other receivables 14,168 64,910
Deposit for warehouse - 11,522
Advances to suppliers - 35,487
53,228 164,870

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Trade receivables

Trade receivables, which generally have 14 day terms, are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an
allowance for lifetime expected credit losses using the simplified approach in accordance with AASB 9: Financial
Instruments. Bad debts are written off when identified.

Receivables from related parties are recognised and carried at the nominal amount due. Interest is taken up as income
on an accrual basis.

Goods and Services Tax (‘GST’)

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not
recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as
part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST
recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as a current asset or liability in the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing and financing
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flows.

Other receivables

Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any provision for impairment. Other receivables do not contain
impaired assets and are not past due. Based on the credit history, it is expected that these other balances will be received
when due.

Impairment of assets

Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal
of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

16. INVENTORIES

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
$ $
Inventories - 53,480
- 53,480

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated costs to sell.
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Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition are accounted for as follows:

- Retail and wholesale merchandise finished goods: purchase cost on a weighted average basis, after deducting any
settlement discounts, supplier’s rebates and including logistics expenses incurred in bringing the inventories to

their present location and condition.

17. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

OFFICE COMPUTER
EQUIPMENT EQUIPMENT TOTAL
$ $ $
Period Ended 30 June 2019
Opening net book amount 17,582 1,992 19,574
Additions 1,996 - 1,996
Depreciation expense (7,239) (1,168) (8,407)
Impairment (6,228) - (6,228)
Closing net book amount 6,111 824 6,935
At 30 June 2019
Cost 24,989 4,913 29,902
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (18,878) (4,089) (22,967)
Net book amount 6,111 824 6,935
OFFICE COMPUTER
EQUIPMENT EQUIPMENT TOTAL
$ $ $
Period Ended 30 June 2018
Opening net book amount 11,756 3,325 15,081
Additions 10,024 - 10,024
Depreciation expense (4,198) (1,333) (5,531)
Closing net book amount 17,582 1,992 19,574
At 30 June 2018
Cost 22,993 4,913 27,906
Accumulated depreciation (5,411) (2,921) (8,332)
Net book amount 17,582 1,992 19,574

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT
Owned assets
Items of plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation (see below) and impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets
includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a work
condition for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they
are located. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that
equipment.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate
items (major components).

Subsequent costs

The Group recognises in the carrying amount of an item of plant and equipment the cost of replacing part of such an
item when that cost is incurred if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other costs are recognised in the Consolidated Statement
of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income as an expense as incurred.
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Depreciation
Depreciation is charged to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income using a
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of plant and equipment.

The estimated useful lives in the current and comparative periods are as follows:
e  Office equipment: 5 years
e  Computer equipment: 3 years

The residual value, the useful life and the depreciation method applied to an asset are reviewed at each financial year
end and if appropriate, adjusted.

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

WINE DEPOT
PLATFORM WEBSITE
DEVELOPMENT DEVELOPMENT TOTAL
$ $ $
Period Ended 30 June 2019
Opening net book amount - - -
Asset acquisition - Wine Depot Holdings Pty Ltd 333,333 333,333
Additions 5,670 - 5,670
Amortisation expense - - -
Closing net book amount 339,003 - 339,003
At 30 June 2019
Cost 339,003 - 339,003
Accumulated amortisation and impairment - - -
Net book amount 339,003 - 339,003
WEBSITE
DEVELOPMENT TOTAL
$ $
Period Ended 30 June 2018
Opening net book amount 493,172 493,172
Acquired via acquisition of Wine Depot Holdings Pty Ltd
Additions - -
Amortisation expense (109,594) (109,594)
Impairment expense (383,578) (383,578)
Closing net book amount - -
At 30 June 2018
Cost 547,969 547,969
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (547,969) (547,969)

Net book amount - -

Wine Depot Platform:

The Group acquired the rights to the Wine Depot Platform intellectual property as a result of its acquisition of Wine
Depot Holdings Pty Ltd (refer Note 11). The Wine Depot Platform is an integrated trading and logistics platform in
development as at 30 June 2019.

Website Development:

As aresult of the operating loss for the 30 June 2018 year, the Board have impaired the website development intangible
asset during that financial year.
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RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT
Intangible assets with finite lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets are only recognised when there is technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset, where there
is an intention and ability to use the asset and the intangible asset is expected to deliver future economic benefits and
these benefits can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets include the Wine Depot Platform Development. Costs capitalised include only those costs directly
attributable to the development of the asset.

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
$ $
Trade and other payables 124,433 146,715
Accruals 59,508 56,953
Other payables ) 204,391 5,144
Unearned income @ - 76,320
388,333 285,132

® Included in other payables is an amount of $196,010 that is the outcome of a sale return and owed to the customer.
Inline with the Company’s strategy to reduce costs in China, it was mutually agreed with the customer to cancel the sale
under the previous contract as the wine was left stored at the Group’s premises. The Group sold the stock to other third
parties in the period, clearing the stock in order to action cost reductions in relation to the Group’s China operations.

@ The balance represents the receipt of funds as at 30 June 2018 in advance of the completion of sale transactions.

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year
which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

For trade and other payables, the fair value is approximate to their carrying value amount, due to their short-term nature.

20. ISSUED CAPITAL

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18

$ No. $ No.
(a) Fully paid ordinary shares 7,928,374 884,923,430 6,410,021 584,726,753
(b) Movement in ordinary shares $ No. Issue price
Balance at 30 June 2017 6,412,818 584,726,753
Capital raising costs (2,797) - -
Balance at 30 June 2018 6,410,021 584,726,753
Shares issued on 26 July 2018 22,000 4,400,000 0.005
Shares issued on 24 October 2018 536,360 89,393,343 0.006
Shares issued on 21 December 2018 100,000 16,666,667 0.006
Shares issued on 1 May 2019 333,333 83,333,333 Nil
Shares issued on 31 May 2019 638,420 106,403,334 0.006
Capital raising costs (111,760) - -
Balance at 30 June 2019 7,928,374 884,923,430

Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proposed winding up of the company in proportion
to the number and amount paid on the share hold.
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(¢) Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to:

e Safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders, and

e  Maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Given the stage of the Company’s development there are no formal targets set for return on capital. There were no
changes to the Company’s approach to capital management during the year. The Company is not subject to externally
imposed capital requirements. The net equity of the Company is equivalent to capital. Net capital is obtained through
capital raisings on the Australian Securities Exchange.

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options for the acquisition
of a business are not included in the cost of the acquisition as part of the purchase consideration.

If the entity reacquires its own equity instruments, for example as a result of a share buy-back, those instruments are
deducted from equity and the associated shares are cancelled. No gain or loss is recognised in the profit or loss and the
consideration paid including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is recognised directly in
equity.

21. RESERVES

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
$ No. $ No.

Options reserve 1,526,910 237,000,000 1,491,755 210,000,000
Foreign currency translation reserve 60,727 - 30,507 -

1,587,637 237,000,000 1,522,262 210,000,000

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18

Movement reconciliation $ 3
Options reserve
Opening Balance 1,491,755 -
Issue of options (i) 35,155 1,491,755
Closing Balance 1,526,910 1,491,755
Foreign currency translation reserve
Opening Balance 30,507 1,528
Effect of translation of foreign currency operations to group presentation 30,220 28,979
Closing Balance 60,727 30,507
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(i) Issue of options

On 26 July 2018, 11,000,000 options were issued to a contractor for services rendered with an exercise price of $0.03
and an expiring date of 23 February 2021. These options have been valued using Black-Scholes option-pricing model.
The table below gives the assumptions made in determining the fair value of options on grant date.

Grant date 26 July 2018
Number of options 11,000,000
Expiry date 23 Feb 2021
Estimated volatility 88.5%
Risk-free interest rate 2.04
Option exercise price (cents) $0.03
Underlying share price (cents) $0.006
Value per option (cents) $0.0011
Total Value $12,152

On 17 May 2019, it was agreed to issue the following options to Peak Asset Management:

e 8,000,000 options exercisable at $0.015 each with an expiry date 12 months from issue (Tranche 1);
e 8,000,000 options exercisable at $0.015 each with an expiry date 12 months from issue that vests upon the
Company achieving a 30-day VWAP of $0.02 or above (Tranche 2);

The options were valued using a Hybrid ESO with the following inputs:

Tranche 1 Tranche 2
Grant date 17 May 2019 17 May 2019
Number of options 8,000,000 8,000,000
Expiry date 17 May 2020 17 May 2020
Estimated volatility 110.40% 110.40%
Risk-free interest rate 1.44% 1.44%
Option exercise price (cents) $0.015 $0.015
Underlying share price (cents) $0.007 $0.007
Value per option (cents) $0.00148 $0.00140
Total Value $11,831 $11,173

(ii) Issue of Performance Rights

As part of his appointment of CEO, Mr Dean Taylor was issued 100,000,000 performance rights as approved at the
Annual General Meeting held on 30 November 2018.

The terms of the performance rights issued to Mr Taylor are as follows:

Class A B

Number 50,000,000 50,000,000

Vesting Both of the following conditions being satisfied: Both of the following conditions being satisfied:

Condition o the Company generating at least $1.25 o the Company generating at least $2
million of revenue over any consecutive million of revenue over any

three month period (equating to annualised

revenue of at least $5 million); and (equating to annualised revenue of at
e a volume weighted average price of the least $8 million); and

Company's Shares over any consecutive e avolume weighted average price of the

three month period of at least $0.015. Company's  Shares  over  any
consecutive three month period of at
least $0.025.

consecutive three month period

Expiry 3 years after the date Dean Taylor commences | 5 years after the date Dean Taylor commences
Date employment with the Company employment with the Company

As at 30 June 2019, the amount recognised as a share based payment expense is $nil.

36



DIGITAL WINE VENTURES LIMITED
(FORMERLY DAWINE LIMITED) ) DIGITAL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS WINE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 VENTURES

Share-Based Payment Transactions

Equity settled transactions:

The Group provides benefits to executive directors, employees and consultants of the Group in the form of share-based
payments, whereby those individuals render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (equity-settled
transactions).

When provided, the cost of these equity-settled transactions with these individuals is measured by reference to the fair
value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined using a Black Scholes
model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant individuals
become fully entitled to the award (the vesting period).

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting date reflects (i) the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and (ii) the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. No adjustment is made for the likelihood of market performance conditions being met as the effect
of these conditions is included in the determination of fair value at grant date. The income statement charge or credit for
a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is only conditional
upon a market condition.

If an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not
yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award
and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new award are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

22. ACCUMULATED LOSSES

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
$ $

Balance at the beginning of the year (6,960,376) (4,852,061)
Net loss attributable to members (1,655,517) (2,108,315)
Balance at the end of the year (8,615,893) (6,960,376)
23. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18

$ $

Amounts received/ receivable by Bentleys Audit & Corporate (WA) Pty Ltd for:
An audit or review of the financial report of the entity 31,249 28,000
Total auditor remuneration 31,249 28,000

24. COMMITMENTS
There are no operating lease or commitments as at 30 June 2019.

25. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
There are no contingent assets and liabilities as at 30 June 2019.

26. DIVIDENDS
There were no dividends paid or declared during the year ended 30 June 2019.
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27. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE

As announced on 10 July 2019, the Group announced that is has partnered with Wine Storage Logistics Pty Ltd (WSL)
to establish a major wine storage and distribution centre. Under the agreement, WSL will establish and operate a
dedicated central storage and distribution facility for WINEDEPOT, which will serve as their main distribution centre
for supplier’s inventory used to support an expanding network of local wine depots.

No other matters or circumstances have arisen, since the end of the year, which significantly affected, or may
significantly affect, the operations of the Consolidated entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of

the Consolidated entity in subsequent financial years.

28. RELATED PARTIES

a. Subsidiary companies
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in Note 6 of the Directors Report.

b. KMP compensation

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
$ $
Short-term employee benefits 323,883 329,000
Post-employment benefits - -
Equity compensation benefits 100,000 -
423,883 329,000

Information regarding individual Directors and Executive compensation and some equity instruments disclosures as
required by Corporations Regulation 2M.3.03 is provided in the remuneration report section of the Directors’ report.

c¢.  Transactions with other related parties
The following transactions occurred with related parties:

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
$ $
Accounting / Company Secretary Services - Smallcap Corporate Pty Ltd
(a Company which Piers Lewis is a Director) 120,925 64,334
120,925 64,334

In addition to the above, the Group acquired Wine Depot Holdings Pty Ltd for consideration of 83,333,333 shares as
described in Note 11. The vendor of Wine Depot Holdings Pty Ltd was Mr Dean Taylor.

There are no other transactions with KMP during the financial year ended 30 June 2019.
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and short-term deposits, receivables and payables. The Group
manages its exposure to key financial risks in accordance with the Group’s financial risk management policy. The
objective of the policy is to support the delivery of the Group’s financial targets while protecting future financial
security.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group does not speculate in the trading of derivative instruments. The Group uses different methods to measure and
manage different types of risks to which it is exposed. These include monitoring levels of exposure to interest rates and
assessments of market forecasts for interest rates. Ageing analysis of and monitoring of receivables are undertaken to
manage credit risk, liquidity risk is monitored through the development of future rolling cash flow forecasts.

The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks as summarised below.

Primary responsibility for identification and control of financial risks rests with the Board. The Board reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of the risks identified below, including for interest rate risk, credit allowances and cash flow
forecast projections.

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of
measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset and
financial liability are disclosed in note 2 to the financial statements.

Risk Exposures and Responses
Foreign exchange risk

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currency and is exposed to foreign currency risk
through foreign exchange rate fluctuations.

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised financial assets and financial liabilities
denominated in a currency that is not the Group’s functional currency. The Group’s main exposure to foreign currency

is its cash & cash equivalents and trade & other receivables which it holds in Chinese Yuan Renminbi (CNY).

At reporting date, the Group had the following financial assets exposed to foreign exchange risk:

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18

CNY CNY
Cash and cash equivalents 954,514 880,800
Trade and other receivables 3,575 466,660
Trade and other payables (964,200) (390,196)
(6,111) 957,264

Interest Rate Risk

The Group’s exposure to risks of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s cash balances. The
Group constantly analyses its interest rate exposure. Within this analysis consideration is given to potential renewals of
existing positions, alternative financing positions and the mix of fixed and variable interest rates. As the Group has no
interest-bearing borrowings its exposure to interest rate movements is limited to the amount of interest income it can
potentially earn on surplus cash deposits. The following sensitivity analysis is based on the interest rate risk exposures
in existence at the reporting date.

At reporting date, the Group had the following financial assets exposed to variable interest rates that are not designated
in cash flow hedges:
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30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
Interest Non-interest Interest Non-interest
bearing bearing bearing bearing
$ $ $ $
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 496,157 393,128 571,167 441,348
Net exposure 496,157 393,128 577,767 441,348

The following sensitivity analysis is based on the interest rate risk exposures in existence at the reporting date. The 0.5%
(2018: 0.5%) sensitivity is based on reasonably possible changes, over a financial year, using an observed range of
historical LIBOR movements over the last 3 years.

At 30 June 2019, if interest rates had moved, as illustrated in the table below, with all other variables held constant,
post-tax profit and equity relating to financial assets of the Group would have been affected as follows:

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18

Judgements of reasonably possible movements $ $
Post tax profit - higher / (lower)
Increase 0.5% 2,481 2,889
Decrease 0.5% (2,481) (2,889)
Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its
liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage
to the Group’s reputation.

Typically, the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses for a period
of 60 days, including the servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances
that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters.

The Group has no access to credit standby facilities or arrangements for further funding or borrowings in place.

The financial liabilities the Group had at reporting date were trade payables incurred in the normal course of the business
and an amount owing pursuant to a contract of sale. Trade payables were non-interest bearing and were due within the
normal 30-60 days terms of creditor payments.

Maturities of financial liabilities

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period
at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted
cash flows.

Total Carrying
Less than 1-3 3 months - 1-5 5+ contractual amount of
1 month months 1 year years years cash flows liabilities
$ $ $ $ $ $ $
30-Jun-19
Trade and other payables 388,333 - - - - 388,333 388,333
388,333 - - - - 388,333 388,333
30-Jun-18
Trade and other payables 285,132 - - - - 285,132 285,132
285,132 - - - - 285,132 285,132
Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Group, which comprise deposits with banks and trade and other
receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from potential default of the counter party, with the maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments. The carrying amount of financial assets included in the
statement of financial position represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to those assets.
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The Group does not hold any credit derivatives to offset its credit exposure.

Except for the above mentioned, the Group trades only with recognised, credit worthy third parties and as such collateral
is not requested nor is it the Group’s policy to securitise its trade and other receivables.

Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group does not have a significant
exposure to bad debts. Trade and other receivables are expected to have a maturity of less than 6 months, for both year
ends.

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group.

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial instruments (except for trade receivables) are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except
where the instrument is classified "at fair value through profit or loss", in which case transaction costs are expensed to
profit or loss immediately.

Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial assets

Financial assets are subsequently measured at:
e amortised cost;
e fair value through other comprehensive income; or
e fair value through profit or loss.

A financial asset that meets the following conditions is subsequently measured at amortised cost:
o the financial asset is managed solely to collect contractual cash flows; and
o the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates.
A financial asset that meets the following conditions is subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income:
e the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates;
e the business model for managing the financial assets comprises both contractual cash flows collection and the
selling of the financial asset.

By default, all other financial assets that do not meet the measurement conditions of amortised cost and fair value
through other comprehensive income are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The initial designation of the financial instruments to measure at fair value through profit or loss is a one-time option
on initial classification and is irrevocable until the financial asset is derecognised.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at:
e amortised cost; or
e fair value through profit or loss.

A financial liability is measured at fair value through profit and loss if the financial liability is:
e acontingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination to which AASB 3: Business Combinations
applies;
e  held for trading; or
e initially designated as at fair value through profit or loss.
All other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Derecognition
Derecognition refers to the removal of a previously recognised financial asset or financial liability from the statement
of financial position.
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Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset is derecognised when the holder's contractual rights to its cash flows expires, or the asset is transferred
in such a way that all the risks and rewards of ownership are substantially transferred.
All of the following criteria need to be satisfied for derecognition of financial asset:

e the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired or been transferred;

e  all risk and rewards of ownership of the asset have been substantially transferred; and

e the Group no longer controls the asset (ie the Group has no practical ability to make a unilateral decision to sell

the asset to a third party).

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset's carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
On derecognition of a debt instrument classified as at fair value through other comprehensive income, the cumulative
gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity which was elected to be classified under fair value through other
comprehensive income, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is not
reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained earnings.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A liability is derecognised when it is extinguished (ie when the obligation in the contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires). An exchange of an existing financial liability for a new one with substantially modified terms, or a substantial
modification to the terms of a financial liability is treated as an extinguishment of the existing liability and recognition
of a new financial liability.

The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets that are measured at amortised cost
or fair value through other comprehensive income.

Loss allowance is not recognised for:
financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss; or
equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The Group uses the simplified approach to impairment, as applicable under AASB 9: Financial Instruments:

Simplified approach
The simplified approach does not require tracking of changes in credit risk at every reporting period, but instead requires
the recognition of lifetime expected credit loss at all times. This approach is applicable to:

e trade receivables or contract assets that result from transactions within the scope of AASB 15: Revenue from

Contracts with Customers and which do not contain a significant financing component; and

e lease receivables.
In measuring the expected credit loss, a provision matrix for trade receivables was used taking into consideration various
data to get to an expected credit loss (ie diversity of customer base, appropriate groups of historical loss experience,
etc).

Recognition of expected credit losses in financial statements

At each reporting date, the Group recognises the movement in the loss allowance as an impairment gain or loss in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The carrying amount of financial assets measured at amortised cost includes the loss allowance relating to that asset.
Assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognised at fair value, with changes in fair
value recognised in other comprehensive income. Amounts in relation to change in credit risk are transferred from other
comprehensive income to profit or loss at every reporting period.

For financial assets that are unrecognised (eg loan commitments yet to be drawn, financial guarantees), a provision for
loss allowance is created in the statement of financial position to recognise the loss allowance.
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The Directors of the company declare that:

D

2)

3)

The financial statements, comprising the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of financial position, consolidated statement of cash flows, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and accompanying notes, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001; and

(a) comply with Accounting Standards, Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional
reporting requirements; and

(b) give a true and fair view of the Consolidated Entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2019 and of its
performance for the year ended on that date.

In the Directors opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts
as and when they become due and payable.

The Consolidated Entity has included in the notes to the financial statements an explicit and unreserved statement
of compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors and is signed on behalf of the Directors

by:

«

P
[

>

A\

-

e

Piers Lewis
Non-Executive Chairman

Perth, Western Australia
Dated: 30 August 2019
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Members of Digital Wine Ventures Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report
Opinion

We have audited the financial report of Digital Wine Ventures Limited (“the Company”)
and its subsidiaries (“the Consolidated Entity”), which comprises the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2019, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the
directors’ declaration.

In our opinion:

a. the accompanying financial report of the Consolidated Entity is in accordance with
the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated Entity’s financial position as
at 30 June 2019 and of its financial performance for the year then ended;
and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations
Regulations 2001.

b. the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards
as disclosed in Note 2.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those
standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit
engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of the Consolidated Entity in
accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001
and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards
Board’'s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are
relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

A member of Bentleys, a network of independent accounting firms located throughout Australia, New Zealand and China that trade
as Bentleys. Al members of the Bentleys Network are affiliated only and are separate legal entities and not in Partnership. Liability
limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

Bentleys

THINKING AHEAD

Bentleys Audit & Corporate
(WA} Pty Ltd

London House

Level 3,

216 St Georges Terrace
Perth WA 6000

PO Box 7775
Cloisters Square WA 6850

ABN 33 121 222 802

T +61 8 9226 4500
F+61 8 9226 4300

bentleys.com.au

} Advisors
Accountants
» Audiors
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To the Members of Digital Wine Ventures Limited (Continued)

Material Uncertainty Regarding Continuation as a Going Concern

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2(c) of the financial report which indicates that the
Consolidated Entity incurred a net loss of $1,655,517 during the year ended 30 June 2019. This condition,
along with other matters as set forth in Note 2(c), indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may
cast significant doubt about the ability of the Consolidated Entity to continue as a going concern and whether it
will realise its assets and extinguish its liabilities in the normal course of business and at the amounts stated in
the financial report.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit
of the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Acquisition of Wine Depot Holdings Pty Ltd Our procedures included, amongst others:

As disclosed in Note 11 to the financial statements — Review of contractual agreements relating to the

durin.g the year, the Qroup acquired Wine Depot acquisition and understanding the key terms and
Holdings Pty Ltd ("Wine Depot’). conditions of the transactions;

This was a key audit matter due to: . . .
— Assessing the requirements of AASB 3 Business

—  The transaction being material to the financial Combinations and considered whether Wine
statements; and Depot met the definition of a business;

—  The complexity in identifying the elements of
consideration and the judgement applied in
determining its fair value.

— Assessed the calculation of the consideration
with reference to AASB 2 Share Based
Payments;

— Testing of the acquisition date balance sheet of
Wine Depot to underlying supporting
documentation;

— Assessment of the adequacy of the disclosures
in Note 11 of the financial statements.

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Consolidated Entity’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2019, but does not include the
financial report and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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To the Members of Digital Wine Ventures Limited (Continued)

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and
fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that
gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 2, the
directors also state in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial
Statements, that the financial report complies with International Financial Reporting Standards.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Consolidated Entity’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Consolidated Entity or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. Our objectives are to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Consolidated Entity’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Consolidated Entity’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Consolidated Entity to cease to
continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.
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To the Members of Digital Wine Ventures Limited (Continued)

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Consolidated Entity to express an opinion on the financial report. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Consolidated Entity audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Report on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2019.
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the remuneration report
in accordance with s 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

Auditor’s Opinion

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of the Company, for the year ended 30 June 2019, complies with
section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

enttey MK Lot ot

BENTLEYS MARK DELAURENTIS ca
Chartered Accountants Partner

Dated at Perth this 30" day of August 2019
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HOLDINGS AS AT 21 AUGUST 2019
The distribution of members and their holdings of equity securities in the company as at 21 August 2019 were as follows:

Fully Paid Shares
Number of Securities Held No. of Holders Securities
1-1,000 102 35,193
1,001 - 5,000 42 95,211
5,001 — 10,000 10 74,729
10,001 - 100,000 227 12,815,570
100,001 and over 394 880,794,394
Total 775 893,815,097
Holders of less than a marketable parcel: 291
20 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 21 AUGUST 2019
Fully Paid Ordinary Shares No. (%)
1 | Whodeanie Pty Ltd <The Taylor Family A/C> 66,702,767 7.46
2 | The Trust Company (Australia) Limited <Mof A/C> 50,659,510 5.67
3 | Mr Anthony Robert Ramage 37,593,168 4.21
4 | Cranley Consulting Pty Ltd <Cranley Consulting A/C> 35,900,000 4.02
5 | Perpetual Capital Investments Pty Ltd 34,680,000 3.88
6 | Mr Norman Ka-Meng Lip + Ms Maya Pranoto <Manor Ventures A/C> 33,600,000 3.76
7 | 1215 Capital Pty Ltd 23,917,070 2.68
8 | Ajava Holdings Pty Ltd 22,400,001 2.51
9 | Rawumber Limited 20,000,000 2.24
10 | Lau Ping Hung 19,983,328 2.24
11 | Bnp Paribas Nominees Pty Ltd <Ib Au Noms Retailclient Drp> 17,183,430 1.92
12 | Dean Laurie Taylor 16,666,667 1.86
13 | Mr Trent Millar 14,000,000 1.57
14 | Kmc Automation Pty Ltd 13,000,000 1.45
15 IXI/rC Seorge Liontos + Mrs Cristina Liontos <Francis Alexandra S/F 12,102,888 135
16 | Mr Zane Lewis <Rlz A/C> 11,033,347 1.23
17 | Panga Pty Ltd 10,166,667 1.14
18 | Mr Gavin Jeremy Dunhill 10,000,000 1.12
19 | Mr John Venardos 10,000,000 1.12
Mr Johnson Grey Kitto + Mr Grantham Angus Kitto + Mrs Dorothy June
20 Kitto <Kitto Super Fund A/C> 9,515,138 1.06
469,103,981 52.49%
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 21 AUGUST 2019
Name No. (%)
1 | Whodeanie Pty Ltd <The Taylor Family A/C> 66,702,767 7.46
2 | The Trust Company (Australia) Limited <Mof A/C> 50,659,510 5.67
RESTRICTED SECURITIES

The Company has the following restricted securities as at 21 August 2019:
16,666,667 ordinary shares escrowed until 12 months from date of quotation.

COMPANY SECRETARY
The name of the Company Secretary is Arron Canicais.
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DIGITAL WINE VENTURES LIMITED )

(FORMERLY DAWINE LIMITED) DIGITAL
ADDITIONAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION WINE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 VENTURES

ADDRESS & TELEPHONE DETAILS OF THE ENTITY’S REGISTERED AND ADMINISTRATION
Suite 8H, 325 Pitt Street
Sydney NSW 2000

Telephone: (02) 8002 1991
Facsimile: (+61) 8 9262 3723
Website: https://www.digitalwine.ventures/

ADDRESS & TELEPHONE DETAILS OF THE OFFICE AT WHICH A REGISTER OF SECURITIES IS KEPT
Advanced Share Registry Services

110 Stirling Highway

Nedlands Western Australia 6009

Telephone: + (61) 8 9389 8033
Facsimile: + (61) 8 9262 3723

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ON WHICH THE COMPANY’S SECURITIES ARE QUOTED
The Company’s listed equity securities are quoted on the Australian Securities Exchange.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
A review of operations is contained in the Directors’ Report.
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